
 

 
 

 

AGENDA 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 
Date: Wednesday, 7 December 2022 
Time:  7.00 pm 
Venue: The Sapling Room, The Appleyard, Avenue of Remembrance, Sittingbourne, Kent 
ME10 4DE* 

 
 
Quorum = 16  

 
  Pages 

Information about this meeting 
*Members of the press and public can listen to this meeting live. Details of how 
to join the meeting will be added to the website by 6 December 2022. 
 
Recording and Privacy Notice  
 
Swale Borough Council is committed to protecting the security of your personal 
information. As data controller we process data in accordance with the Data 
Protection Act 2018 and the UK General Data Protection Regulation. 
 
This meeting may be recorded. The recording will be retained in accordance 
with the Council’s data retention policy and may be published on the Council’s 
website. By entering the room and by speaking at a meeting, whether in person 
or online, you are consenting to being recorded and to the recording being 
published. 
 
When joining a meeting online, your username will be visible to others in 
attendance. In joining the meeting you are consenting to us processing your 
username. You may use a pseudonym as your username but the use of an 
inappropriate name may lead to removal from the meeting. 
 
If you have any questions about how we look after your personal information or 
your rights under the legislation, please email 
dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk.  
 

 

1.  Emergency Evacuation Procedure 
 
Visitors and members of the public who are unfamiliar with the building 

and procedures are advised that:  

 

(a) No fire drill is planned during the meeting. If the alarm sounds please 

leave the building quickly without collecting any of your possessions, 

using the doors signed as fire escapes, and assemble outside where 

directed.  

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk


 

 

 

(b) Await instructions before re-entering the building.  

 

(c) Anyone who requires assistance in evacuating the building should 

make officers aware of any special needs so that suitable arrangements 

may be made in the event of an emergency. 

  
2.  Apologies for Absence 

 

 

3.  Declarations of Interest 
 
Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 

other material benefits for themselves, their families or friends.  

 

The Chair will ask Members if they have any disclosable pecuniary 

interests (DPIs) or disclosable non-pecuniary interests (DNPIs) to declare 

in respect of items on the agenda. Members with a DPI in an item must 

leave the room for that item and may not participate in the debate or vote.   

 

Aside from disclosable interests, where a fair-minded and informed 

observer would think there was a real possibility that a Member might be 

biased or predetermined on an item, the Member should declare this and 

leave the room while that item is considered.  

 

Members who are in any doubt about interests, bias or predetermination 

should contact the monitoring officer for advice prior to the meeting. 

  

 

4.  Minutes 
 
To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 16 November (Minute 
Nos. TBA) as a correct record.  
  

 

5.  Mayor's Announcements 
 

 

6.  Leader's Statement 
 

 

7.  Motion - Planning Policy 
 

5 - 6 

8.  Motion - Use of disposable BBQ's 
 

7 - 8 

9.  Questions submitted by the Public 
 
To consider any questions submitted by the public.  (The deadline for 
questions is 4.30 pm on the Wednesday before the meeting – please 
contact Democratic Services by e-mailing 
democraticservices@swale.gov.uk or call 01795 417330). 
  

 

10.  Questions submitted by Members 
 
To consider any questions submitted by Members.  (The deadline for 
questions is 4.30 pm on the Monday the week before the meeting – 
please contact Democratic Services by e-mailing 

 

democraticservices@swale.gov.uk


 

 

democraticservices@swale.gov.uk or call 01795 417330). 
  

11.  Constitution Amends - Petition scheme 
 

9 - 24 

 

Issued on Tuesday, 29 November 2022 
 

The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be made available 
in alternative formats. For further information about this service, or 
to arrange for special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please 
contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out 
more about the work of the Council, please visit www.swale.gov.uk 

 
 
 
Chief Executive, Swale Borough Council, 

Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT 

democraticservices@swale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Motion – Planning Policy 
 
Following the decision of the Policy and Resources Committee to postpone the 
Regulation 19 consultation and shelve the Local Plan Review on Wednesday 19th 
October 2022, combined with a number of recent appeal decisions issued by the 
Planning Inspectorate and commentary made within them, this council resolves to;  
 
Rescind the decision taken by Full Council on 17th June 2020 to adopt an Interim 
Planning Policy for Park Home Residences and; 
Agrees it is no longer to be used as a material planning consideration.  
 
Proposer: Councillor Cameron Beart 
Seconder: Councillor James Hunt 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Motion - Use of BBQ’s 
 
The summer of 2022 has set new records in the UK for heat.  Connected to this have 
been numerous fires that have devasted large plots of land, destroyed properties, 
killed animals, caused injuries and endangered life.  Fortunately, it appears no life 
was lost but the impact of these fires will last for years.   
 
Some of these fires were caused by people having BBQ’s and failing to dispose of 
them after they have finished.  One ember can cause a large fire these can be from 
a BBQ or other means with a naked flame. 
 
Barbecues and any naked flames pose a significant fire risk if they are not put out 
properly and, if necessary, disposed of. These can cause grass fires in open spaces 
and scorching the grassed areas. The dry spell has left grassland like a tinderbox 
and increases the chances of a fire caused by a disposable barbecue. 
 
London’s Fire Commissioner Andy Roe has said “Despite our grass fire warnings, 
we’ve still seen some people behaving carelessly and recklessly. On Saturday 
(23rd July) firefighters prevented a serious blaze at Wanstead Flats caused using a 
disposable barbecue. We need urgent action now to see a national ban on the sale 
of disposable barbecues. They can be bought for as little as five pounds and can 
cause untold damage, especially when the grass is as dry as it has been over the 
last few weeks”. 
 
This council recognises the threat BBQ’s and naked flames can have on our land but 
also that they can also be used appropriately and are an important aspect to the 
tourism of the area. Several years ago this council agreed a motion to ban the use of 
lanterns on council land due to the risk they present to livestock and fire. BBQ’s if 
unmanaged are an even greater risk. 
 
This council recognises the comments from Andy Roe and resolves to ban the use of 
disposable BBQ’s from all council owned land with the exception of registered 
campsites or events that have a risk assessment in place and method regarding use 
and disposal agreed with the council.  
 
This council: 
 

• Recognises the comments from Andy Roe. 

• Would support a ban on the use of BBQs from all council owned land, to the 
extent that this is possible, with the exception of registered campsites, beach huts 
or events that have a risk assessment in place and a method agreed with the 
council regarding use and disposal. 

• Would support the introduction of a charge/fine to people who did not follow such 
a ban, to the extent that this is possible. 

• Requests the Environment committee to undertake the necessary work to 
develop and adopt a policy which would fulfil these objectives, to the extent that 
they are feasible within the law and any other relevant constraints. 

• Calls on the Government to introduce a national ban on the sale of disposable 
barbeques as soon as possible and resolves to write to the relevant Government 
Departments and our local MP’s expressing this view. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 8



The intention of this motion is also connected to the environmental emergency and 
our need to protect of grass lands for peoples leisure and welfare of animals and all 
those who rely on the grasslands. We recognise that a blanket ban on BBQ’s would 
have serious consequences on aspects of our tourism in Swale as it is popular with 
people when camping and we do not wish to deter this.   

 
 
Proposer: Cllr Bowen 
Seconder: Cllr Dendor 
 
 

Page 8



 

 

Council  

Meeting Date 7 December 2022 

Report Title Constitution amend: Petitions scheme 

EMT Lead David Clifford 

Head of Policy, Governance and Customer Services – 
Monitoring Officer 

Head of Service 

Lead Officer 

Classification Open 

Recommendations Council is asked to:  

1. Agree the revised petitions scheme at Appendix II. 

 

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 
 
1.1 This report introduces an updated version of the constitutional petitions scheme 

and sets out the constitution working group’s reasons for preferring it to the 
current version. The report asks Council to adopt the updated version. 

 

2 Background 
 
2.1 Council voted unanimously in October last year to move to a committee system of 

governance from the 2022/23 municipal year. At the same meeting, council 
requested the cross-party working group which had been established to consider 
this governance change to continue its work in overseeing the detail of the new 
constitution. Following some recent changes in membership, the working group 
now comprises Cllrs Baldock (chair), Bonney, Darby, Harrison, Henderson, 
Ingleton, Simmons and Valentine. 
 

2.2 Since the adoption of the new constitution in April and its coming into effect in 
May, the working group has continued to meet, with a view both to monitoring the 
working of the new constitution in practice, recommending improvements where 
necessary, and to working through the ‘issues log’ of areas of the old constitution 
which the group previously agreed could benefit from review but which were not 
essential to implementing the move to the committee system. Most of the items 
on the issues log have now been resolved, with only the petitions scheme 
outstanding. 
 

2.3 The current petitions scheme, set out in Appendix I, was adopted at a time when 
councils had a legal obligation to operate such a scheme, and it tries to take 
account of all the different sorts of petitions which the council may by law be 
required to deal with. There is no longer a requirement on councils to operate a 
general petitions scheme at all, but it is probably good practice in a council which 
wants to listen to the views of residents to retain one. 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 11



 

 

2.4 There are still statutory provisions on certain types of petition, but because the 
law on how these should be handled is very specific, it is unnecessary and 
arguably unhelpful to have these included in a general scheme. The proposed 
scheme at Appendix II explicitly excludes these types of petition.  

 
2.5 The council does not receive a high number of petitions, but nor are they so rare 

that there is no need for a clear scheme to establish how they will be handled 
when they are received. In recent years, an average of approximately three 
petitions have been received each year, and it is more common than not that 
petition organisers want to take advantage of the council’s e-petitions portal.  

 

3 Proposals 
 
3.1 In addition to the overcomplication caused by the inclusion of multiple petition 

types, the current scheme is not especially helpful in establishing the length of 
time e-petitions can be open to collect signatures or in setting a minimum number 
of signatures necessary to have the petition discussed at a meeting. The 
proposed scheme at Appendix II attempts to rectify both of these points, stating 
that e-petitions will normally remain open for signatures for ten weeks (or less in 
the event that the subject matter is urgent), and detailing the threshold number of 
signatures required for a petition to be formally considered. 
 

3.2 The constitution working group reviewed these thresholds in some detail, and 
concluded that any petition gathering less than 200 signatures should receive a 
response from the relevant director, a petition with between 200 and 1,499 
signatures should be formally considered at a meeting of the relevant service 
committee, and any petition gathering at least 1,500 signatures should be 
debated at a meeting of the full council.  
 

3.3 Under the cabinet system it was sometimes the case that a cabinet member 
would determine the council’s response to a petition. The working group 
considered whether there should be a similar provision in the new scheme, 
enabling committee chairs to determine whether a petition with between 200 and 
1,499 signatures should be accepted as an item on the committee agenda. The 
group’s ultimate view was that this did not sit well with the absence of individual 
member decision-making in the committee system, and could result in committee 
chairs being placed in a difficult position.  
 

3.4 The working group also gave detailed consideration to the need for agenda items 
resulting from petitions, whether at committee meetings or council meetings, to be 
supported by an officer report setting out the implications of the decision 
requested by the petition. The group concluded that petitions for consideration at 
meetings should generally be accompanied by an officer report but without the 
report proposing a definite response to the petition. The scheme at Appendix II 
has therefore been written in such a way that the response can come from 
members, using motions and amendments to test views and arrive at an agreed 
position. 
 

Page 10



 

 

3.5 Council is now recommended to agree the revised petitions scheme at Appendix 
II. 

 

4 Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
4.1 As set out in Section 2, there is no longer a statutory requirement on councils to 

operate any general petitions scheme. A legitimate option would therefore be to 
remove the scheme in its entirety from the constitution. This option was rejected 
as being incompatible with the council’s desire to listen to the views of residents 
and others who may be affected by its decision-making, and potentially in conflict 
with the corporate priority of renewing local democracy and making the council fit 
for the future. 
 

4.2 A further legitimate option would be to maintain the current version of the 
scheme, set out in Appendix I. As explained in Section 2 above, this is now a very 
old document which tries to accommodate a range of petition types which do not 
need to be accommodated by a general scheme. This has the effect of 
overcomplicating the scheme, making it difficult for both petition organisers and 
officers to interpret. This option has therefore also been rejected. 

 

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed 
 
5.1 The cross-party constitution working group has given detailed consideration to the 

proposed scheme set out at Appendix II. Specific points discussed and agreed by 
the group are highlighted in Section 3 above. Consultation has also taken place 
with the Democratic Services team, who are responsible for administering the 
petitions scheme in the first instance, and who believe the proposed scheme 
would be simpler and more efficient to manage than the current one. 

 

6 Implications 
 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan Adoption of an updated and simplified petitions scheme 
would support the fourth corporate priority of renewing 
local democracy and making the council fit for the future. 

Financial, Resource and 
Property 

No direct implications identified at this stage. The ability 
for all petitions being debated by members to be 
accompanied by an officer report means that members 
would be fully apprised of the financial implications of 
any decision resulting from a petition. 

Legal, Statutory and 
Procurement 

As set out in the body of the report, there is no longer 
any statutory obligation on councils to maintain general 
petition schemes.  

Crime and Disorder 

Page 11



 

 

Environment and 
Climate/Ecological 
Emergency 

No direct implications identified at this stage. The ability 
for all petitions being debated by members to be 
accompanied by an officer report means that members 
would be fully apprised of the relevant implications of 
any decision resulting from a petition. 

Health and Wellbeing 

Safeguarding of Children, 
Young People and 
Vulnerable Adults 

Risk Management and 
Health and Safety 

Equality and Diversity 

Privacy and Data Protection 

 

7 Appendices 
 
7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 

report: 

• Appendix I: Current petitions scheme 

• Appendix II: Proposed petitions scheme 
 

8 Background Papers 
 
8.1 There are no background papers.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



 

 

Appendix I 

CURRENT PETITIONS SCHEME 
 

1.  We particularly welcome petitions as one way in which you can let us know your 
concerns. In this Scheme we set out how the authority will respond to petitions which 
you send us, how we will acknowledge them, and what we intend to do with the 
petition. 

 
What is a petition? 

 
2.  We treat as a petition any communication which is signed by or sent to us on behalf 
of a number of people.  For practical purposes, we normally set a requirement for at 
least 10 signatories or petitioners before we treat it as a petition. 

 
Who can petition? 

 
3.  Whilst we like to hear from people who live, work or study in Swale, this is not a 
requirement, and we would take equally seriously a petition from, for example, 10 
visitors to the District on the subject of facilities at one of our visitor attractions or 
leisure facilities. 

 
What should a petition contain? 

 
4.  A petition must include the following. 

 

(i)  A clear statement of your concerns and what you want the authority to do.  This must 
relate to something which is our responsibility, or over which we have some direct 
influence. Where a petition relates to a matter which is the responsibility of another 
public authority, we will ask the petition organiser whether s/he would like us to 
redirect the petition to that other authority.  We work with a large number of local 
partners and, where possible, we will work with them to respond to the petition. 
Where a petition relates to a matter over which the authority has no responsibility or 
influence, we will return the 
petition to the petition organiser with an explanation for that decision. 

 

(ii) The name and contact details of the ‘petition-organiser’ or someone we can address 
any correspondence to about the petition.  Contact details may be either a postal 
address or an email address. 

 

(iii) The names of at least 10 petitioners (which can include the petition organiser). Where 
the petition is in paper form, this can include an actual signature from each petitioner, 
but this is not essential. Where the petition is in electronic form, a list of the names of 
the petitioners will suffice.  You may include the addresses of petitioners, which can 
be useful to the authority (for example, in assessing the degree of local support or 
opposition to a planning application), but this is not essential. With an e-petition the 
petition organiser will need to decide how long you would like the petition to be open 
for signatures.  Most petitions are expected to last for six months, but a shorter or 
longer timeframe can be chosen, up to a maximum of 12 months.  Action on an e–
petition will only start when it has closed for signature. 

 

Page 13



 

 

(iv) If you want your petition to be debated at a meeting of the Council (a Petition for 
Debate), or to trigger a public meeting of an at which a specific officer will be 
required to report (a Petition to hold an Officer to Account), your petition will need to 
contain a higher number of signatories or petitioners (see below), and be received in 
good time to be included on the agenda for any given such meeting. 

 
5.  If you are submitting the petition in response to our consultation on a 
specific matter, please identify the matter which it relates to, so that we can 
ensure that your petition is considered along with original matter. 

 
Who should you send a petition to? 

 
6.  Where you submit a petition in response to consultation by the authority, please 
address it to the return address set out in the consultation invitation. This will 
ensure that it is reported at the same time as the matter to which it relates is 
considered. 

 
7.  We have appointed a Petitions Officer who is responsible for receiving, 
managing and reporting all other petitions sent to the authority.  For such petitions, 
please address them to: 

 
The Petitions Officer, Swale Borough Council, Swale House, East Street, 
Sittingbourne, ME10 3HT, or to petitions@swale.gov.uk. 

 

8.  The Petitions Officer will ensure that your petition is acknowledged to the 
petition organiser and entered on the authority's petitions website (Swale Petitions 
website), and that the website is regularly up-dated with information on the progress 
of your petition. The Petitions Officer can also provide you with advice about how to 
petition the authority or the progress of your petition, at either of the above 
addresses or by telephone at 01795 417268. 

 
Types of Petition 

 
9.  There are five different types of petition, as set out below.  How we deal with 
a petition depends on which type you submit. 

 
Type of petition Description and arrangements 

Consultation 
Petitions 

These are petitions in response to an invitation from the authority 
for representations on a particular proposal or application, for 
example on planning or licensing applications or proposals for 
parking restrictions or speed limits. 

 

Consultation petitions which are received by the response date in 
the consultation invitation will be reported to a public meeting of the 
person or body which will be taking the decision on the application 
or proposal. 

Page 14

//sbcdata01/committee/00-Admin/Constitution/2018/petitions@swale.gov.uk
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/mgEPetitionListDisplay.aspx
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/mgEPetitionListDisplay.aspx


 

 

Statutory 
Petitions 

Particular Acts of Parliament require the Council to consider 
petitions, for example a petition for a review of Parish Councils 
(community governance reviews), or a petition for a directly-elected 
Mayor (Mayoral referendums). 

 

Where a petition is submitted under such a specific statute, we will 
report it to the next available meeting of the Council in accordance 
with the statutory requirements. 

Petitions for 
Debate 

 

If you want your petition to be reported to and debated at a meeting 
of the Council, it must contain at least 1,500 signatories or 
petitioners.  
 
Where a petition relates to a local issue, that is to say, it affects no 
more than two electoral wards within the authority's area, and it 
received 200 or more signatories or petitioners, then it will be 
referred to the relevant Committee. 

 

 
Petitions to If you want your petition to be considered at a meeting where an 

officer, identified either by name or by post title, will be required to 
answer questions on the conduct of a particular matter, your petition 
should contain at least 
500 signatories or petitioners (this is reduced to 200 signatories or 
petitioners where the petition relates to a local issue, affecting no 
more than two electoral wards within the authority's area). 

 

The authority has determined that such petitions must relate to the 
Chief Executive, a Director, or a Head of Service of the authority, 
and must be matters for which they may be held responsible. 

 

Please note that, where the petition raises issues of competence or 
misconduct, the petition will be referred to the Chief Executive (or to 
the Monitoring Officer in respect of the Chief Executive) and will be 
considered under the authority's Disciplinary Procedures and any 
relevant legislation, and not under this Petitions Procedure. 

Hold an Officer 
to Account 

Ordinary These are petitions which do not come within any of the previous 
specific types. 

 

Please note that petitions which raise issues of possible councillor 
misconduct will be taken as complaints arising under the Local 
Government Act 2000 and so will be reported to the Standards 
Referrals Sub-Committee, rather than considered under this 
Petitions Procedure. 

Petitions 

 

10. Determining which category of petition a petition that is received falls into, and 
the validity of the petition, will be a matter for the Petitions Officer, whose decision 
will be final.

Page 15



 

 

The Petitions Website 
 
11. The authority maintains a petitions website at: 
http://www.swale.gov.uk/epetitions/Browse.aspx 

 

12. When a petition is received, within five working days the Petitions Officer will 
open a new public file within the website and will put in that file the subject matter of 
the petition, its date of receipt and the number of signatories or petitioners.  The 
petition organiser’s name and contact details will only be included on the website if 
they so request.  Please note the exceptions in paragraphs 42 to 45, which provide 
details of petitions which will not be reported. 

 
13. As soon as it is decided who the petition will be considered by within the authority, 
and when that consideration will occur, this information will be entered on the website 
at the same time as it is sent to the petition organiser. Once the petition has been 
considered, the authority's decision will be notified to the petition organiser and put on 
the website within five working days of that consideration. 

 
14. Petitions are presented on the petition’s website in the order in which they are 
received, but the website can be searched for keywords to identify all petitions relating 
to a particular topic. All petitions are kept on the website for two years from the date 
of being posted. 

 
The role of Ward Councillors 

 
15. When a petition is received which relates to a local matter (particularly affecting 
specific electoral wards), the Petition Officer will send a copy of the petition to each 
relevant Ward Councillor at the same time as acknowledging receipt of the petition to 
the petition organiser. 

 
16. When the petition is reported to the person or body within the authority who can 
take a decision on the matter to which it relates, the relevant Ward Councillor will 
be invited to attend and to address the decision taker for no more than three 
minutes (or three minutes each), immediately after the petition organiser. 

 
What happens when a petition is received? 

 
17. Whenever a petition is received, the Petitions Officer will acknowledge 
receipt to the petition organiser within five working days of receipt. 

 
18. In some cases, the Petitions Officer may be able to resolve the petitioners' 
request directly, by asking the relevant Committee Chair or officer to take 
appropriate action.  For example, where the petition relates to fly-tipping and the 
authority can arrange for it to be cleared up directly. Where this is done, the 
Petitions Officer will ask the petition organiser whether s/he considers that the 
matter is resolved. 

 
19. Unless the matter has been resolved to the satisfaction of the petition organiser, 
the Petitions Officer will, within five working days of receipt of the petition, provide a 

Page 16

http://www.swale.gov.uk/epetitions/Browse.aspx


 

 

substantive response to the petition organiser setting out who the petition will be 
reported to for consideration, when and where that will take place, and inviting the 
petition organiser to attend that meeting and to address the meeting for up to three 
minutes on the issue covered by the petition.  The invitation to the petition organiser 
to address the meeting is in addition to any other public speaking rights at that 
meeting. 

 
20. Whilst we are committed to dealing with petitions promptly, a petition will normally 
need to be received before the final agenda for that meeting has been determined if it 
is to be reported to that meeting.  This usually means at least 10 working days before 
a relevant meeting. Where it is necessary to undertake a significant amount of work 
to collect information and advice to enable the matter to be properly considered, it 
may be necessary for the Petitions Officer to decide that the petition will be held over 
until the following meeting of the relevant body.  It is therefore suggested that, 
wherever possible, early contact should be made with the Petitions Officer to ensure 
that petitions can be reported to the earliest appropriate meeting. The Council has an 
agreed timetable of meetings and this is available on the council’s website. 

 
21. At the same time as responding to the petition organiser, the Petitions Officer 
will notify party group Leaders and all Ward Councillors of receipt of the petition. 

 
22. Within five working days of receipt of a petition, the Petitions Officer will open a 
new public file for the petition on the authority's petitions website, setting out the 
subject matter of the petition, the date of receipt and the number of petitioners.  The 
petition organiser's name and contact details will only be included on the website if 
they so request. 

 
23. At each stage of the consideration of the petition, the Petitions Officer will ensure 
that the petitions website is updated within five working days of any decision, to 
ensure that petitioners can track progress of their petition. 

 
24. The process after this stage differs for the various types of petitions. These 
processes are set out below. 

 
What happens to a Consultation Petition? 

 
25. Consultations Petitions are submitted in response to an invitation from the 
Council for representations on a particular proposal or application, such as a 
planning or licensing application. 

 
26. The petition will be reported to the person or body who will take the decision on 
the proposal or application at the meeting when they are due to take the decision on 
that application or proposal.  The Council's Constitution defines who will take different 
types of decision, as set out in the Scheme of Delegations and the terms of Reference 
of Committees and Sub-Committees. Planning applications are determined by the 
Planning Committee, subject to any delegations to the Head of Planning Services who 
is enabled to take 

Page 17



 

 

decisions, particularly where there are no objections. In such cases, where a 
petition supports the planning application, it may be determined by the Head of 
Planning Services and so not reported at the Planning Committee. 

 
27. Where the petition relates to a matter which is within the delegated power of an 
officer, unless it is in support of the recommended decision, s/he will not exercise 
those delegated powers but will automatically refer the matter up to the relevant 
Committee or Council. 
 

What happens to a Statutory Petition? 
 
28. Particular Acts of Parliament require the Council to consider petitions, for 
example a petition for a review of Parish Councils, or a petition for a directly-
elected Mayor. Where a petition is submitted under such a specific statute, we will 
report it to the next available meeting of the Council in accordance with the 
statutory requirements. 

 
What happens to Petitions for Debate? 

 
29. Petitions for Debate that reach the required threshold of signatures will be reported 
to the next convenient meeting of Council. Petitions will not be considered at the Annual 
Meeting of Council, the budget setting meeting of Council or at Extraordinary Meetings 
of Council, which are not convened to consider the subject matter of the petition. 

 
30. The petition organiser will be invited to address the meeting for up to three minutes 
on the subject of the petition. They are entitled to send a substitute if they are unable 
to attend or otherwise unable to address the meeting. 

 
What happens to a Petition to Hold an Officer to Account? 

 
31. Petitions to hold an officer to account that are a matter for the Council and which 
have reached the required threshold of signatures, will be reported to the next 
convenient meeting of the relevant Committee. 

 
32. In advance of the Committee meeting, the petition organiser will be invited to 
submit a list of questions which s/he would like put to the officer at the meeting. 
These questions will be provided to the Chair of the Committee, who will decide 
whether they are appropriate, and to the officer concerned, in advance of the 
meeting. 

 
33. At the meeting, the Chair will invite the petition organiser (or a substitute of their 
choosing) to address the Committee for a maximum of three minutes on the issue, 
and the relevant officer will then be required to report to the Committee in relation to 
the conduct of the subject matter of the petition. Members of the Committee may 
question the officer, and the Chair may invite the petition organiser to suggest 
questions for him/her to put to the officer. 

 
 
 
 

Page 18



 

 

What happens to an Ordinary Petition? 
 
34. The Petitions Officer will arrange for each Ordinary petition to be reported to the 
next convenient meeting of the Council or of a Committee or Sub-Committee of 
Council which has the power to take a decision on the matter. 

 
35. At the meeting, when the matter to which the petition relates is considered: 

 

(i)  petitions which do not relate to an ordinary item of business will be considered 
before thenormal business of the meeting, and will be considered in the order in which 
they were received, unless the Chair at the meeting determines otherwise.  A 
maximum of 30 minutes will be allowed at each meeting for considering such petitions, 
and any petitions not reached in the time allowed will be referred to the relevant 
Committee Chair for consideration or deferred until the next meeting; 

 

(ii) any petitions relevant to particular items of business, such as petitions relating to 
planning applications, will be taken together with that item of business, in the normal 
order of 
business; 

 

(iii) the Chair of the meeting may invite a relevant officer to set out the background to 
the issue before inviting the petition organiser to address him/her for up to three 
minutes. The Chair may then ask questions of the petition organiser, and will then 
invite any relevant Ward Councillors present to address him/her on the matter for up 
to three minutes (each); 

 

(iv) the Chair will then invite a relevant officer(s) to advise him/her/the meeting, after 
which the matter will be open for debate among members of the decision-making 
body. 

 
36.  At each stage, the Petitions Officer will enter the relevant information on the 
website at the same time as it is sent to the petition organiser.  As with other 
petitions, the petition and what happens to it will remain on the Council’s website for 
two years from the date of posting. 

 
The role of the Petition Organiser 

 
37. The petition organiser will receive acknowledgement of receipt of the petition 
within two working days of its receipt by the authority. 

 
38. Where the petition is not accepted for consideration, the petition organiser will be 
advised by the Petitions Officer of the rejection and the grounds for such rejection. 

 
39. Where the petition is accepted for consideration, the petition organiser will be 
advised by the Petitions Officer within five working days of receipt by the authority as 
to whom the petition will be considered by, and the date, time and place of the 
meeting at which it will be considered, and will be invited to address the meeting for 
up to three minutes. The meeting may then ask the petition organiser questions on 
the subject matter of the petition. 

 

Page 19



 

 

40. The petition organiser may nominate another person to address the meeting 
and to answer any questions on the matter. 

 
41. The petition organiser will be regularly informed by the Petitions Officer of any 
decisions in respect of the petition, and will be formally notified of the outcome of the 
petition's consideration within five working days of such decision. 

 
Petitions which will not be reported 

 
42. As well as petitions where the threshold number of signatures has not been 
reached, or that do not relate to something which is the responsibility of the authority 
or over which the authority has some influence, the following petitions will also not 
be reported. 

 
43. Duplicate Petitions: where more than one petition is received in time for a 
particular meeting, each supporting the same outcome on one matter, each petition 
organiser will be treated as an independent petition organiser, but only the petition 
organiser of the first petition to be received will be invited to address the relevant 
meeting. 

 
44. Repeat Petitions: a petition will not normally be considered where they are 
received within six months of another petition being considered by the authority on 
the same matter. 

 
45. Rejected Petitions: petitions will not be reported if, in the opinion of the Petitions 
Officer, they are rude, offensive, vexatious, defamatory, scurrilous or time-wasting. 

 
 

Page 20



 

 

Appendix II 

PROPOSED PETITIONS SCHEME 
 
 
Introduction 
 
The council welcomes petitions. We recognise that petitions are one way in which 
people can let us know their concerns. 
 
Anyone who lives, works or studies in Swale may organise or sign a petition. This 
includes people under the age of 18. 
 
You can either organise the petition yourself and submit a paper list of signatures to the 
council, or you can request the council to set up an e-petition, which collects signatures 
online.  
 
All e-petitions normally remain open for new signatures for ten weeks from the go-live 
date, although this can be reduced in the event that the subject matter of the petition is 
urgent.  
 
Before you submit your petition, please read our guidance in the next sections. 
 
What should I include in my petition? 
 
You must include a clear, concise statement covering the subject of the petition and 
what you want the council to do. The statement must relate to the functions, powers or 
duties of the council. Any action you request will only be considered if it would be lawful 
for the council to undertake. 
 
The petition must also include the: 

• name, address, telephone number and email address of the petition organiser; and 

• name, address and signature of any person supporting the petition (these are 
collected automatically in the case of e-petitions). 
 

We will not publish the petition organiser's or any signatories’ contact details on the 
council's website but we will publish the petition. 
 
It is important that you follow this guidance. The council may choose to take no action 
on a petition if important details are missing. In this case, we will write to you to explain 
the reasons and give you the opportunity to amend the petition. 
 
What types of petitions are excluded? 
 
We will not take action on any petition or requested e-petition that is: 

• vexatious; 

• abusive; 

Page 21



 

 

• otherwise inappropriate; or 

• does not relate directly to the council’s functions, responsibility or powers. 
 
The proper officer will decide if a petition fits these categories. If we reject your petition 
for any of the above reasons, we will notify you in our acknowledgement letter. 
 
This scheme does not apply to: 

• petitions relating to a planning or licensing application, which will be referred to the 
relevant decision making body; 

• statutory petitions (for example requesting a referendum on having a directly elected 
mayor), which will be dealt with in accordance with the relevant statutory scheme; 

• petitions submitted as part of a consultation process being carried out by the council, 
in which case the petition will be considered by the relevant decision making body as 
part of the consultation; or 

• petitions relating to matters where other review or appeal procedures exist, e.g. a 
review of council tax banding. 

 
This scheme does not apply to petitions on the same or similar topic as ones addressed 
by the council in the last six months. In this case we will acknowledge receipt of your 
petition and include details of our response to similar petitions. 
 
Where we are still considering a petition on the same or similar topic, we will 
amalgamate the petitions. 
 
We will send details of excluded petitions that directly affect wards to the councillors 
representing those wards. 
 
What the council will do with your petition 
 
We will write to you to acknowledge your petition within 10 working days of receiving it. 
We will let you know what we plan to do with the petition and when you can expect to 
hear from us again. If the petition needs further investigation, we will tell you the steps 
we plan to take.  
 
Your petition will be published on our website, except in cases where this would be 
inappropriate.  
 
Where the subject matter of the petition affects particular wards, the councillors 
representing those wards will be notified.  
 
The way in which your petition is considered by the council will depend on the number of 
signatories to the petition, as follows: 

• Fewer than 200 signatories: Response from the relevant director. 

• Between 200 and 1,499 signatories: Referred to a meeting of the most relevant 

service committee. 

Page 22



 

 

• More than 1,500 signatories: Referred to a meeting of the full council. 

 
Our response to the petition will depend on what the petition asks and how many people 
have signed it. It may include one or more of the following: 

• taking the action requested in the petition; 

• considering the matter at a meeting of the council or a committee;  

• holding a public meeting; 

• holding a meeting with petitioners or the petition organiser; 

• writing to the petition organiser setting out the council's views about the request in 

the petition;  

• considering the matter as part of a consultation process; or 

• taking no further action on the matter. 

 
Considering a petition at a meeting 
 
Where the petition is referred to the full council or to a service committee, the petition 
organiser (or any person authorised by them) will, if they so wish, be given a period not 
exceeding three minutes to present the petition at the meeting. The petition will then be 
discussed by councillors.  
 
We will contact the petition organiser before the meeting to establish whether they wish 
to present the petition at the meeting in the manner described above. 
 
In addition to these steps, the council will consider all the specific actions it can 
potentially take on the issues highlighted in a petition. 
 
If a petition falling within the scheme contains 1,500 signatures or more, it will 
automatically be referred to the full council for debate. The council will endeavour to 
consider the petition at its next meeting, although on some occasions this may not be 
possible, and consideration will then take place at the next available meeting. 
 
When a petition is to be considered by a committee or the full council, it will generally be 
accompanied by an officer report setting out any financial and non-financial implications 
arising from decisions which could be taken in the light of it. This report will not 
recommend a particular course of action. 
 
Councillors will decide how to respond to the petition at the meeting. They may decide to 
support the action the petition requests, or not. A motion suggesting a formal response 
to the petition shall be proposed and seconded at the meeting and dealt with under the 
normal rules of debate, except that notice of motions and amendments will not be 
required. Any such motion must respond explicitly to the request in the petition i.e. that 
part of the petition which asks the council to take some form of action.  
 

Page 23



 

 

Alternatively, councillors may refer the matter to a different committee or an officer for 
further consideration. The petition organiser will receive written confirmation of this 
decision. 
 
How to submit a petition 
 
E-petitions 
 
[Submission details to be inserted] 
 
Paper petitions  
 
[Submission details to be inserted] 
 
 

Page 24


	Agenda
	7 Motion - Planning Policy
	8 Motion - Use of disposable BBQ's
	11 Constitution Amends - Petition scheme

